Children's Services

LOCAL AUTHORITY SUPPORT FOR CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE UNABLE TO ATTEND SCHOOL DUE TO IMPACT OF MEDICAL CONDITION

PUBLICATION SCHEDULE NUMBER: CS0537

PUBLICATION DATE: April 2024

AUTHORISING OFFICER: JO FISHER

AUTHORISING OFFICER'S SIGNATURE:

AUTHOR OF PUBLICATION: RICHARD WOODARD

POST: COUNTY LEAD ACCESS

Inclusion & Alternative

Provision

TEAM: Access, Inclusion & Alternative

Provision

REVIEW DATE: AUGUST 2027

TARGET AUDIENCE: ALL SCHOOLS

PUBLISHED BY CHILDREN'S SERVICES

Contents

Introduction	3
Legislation	4
Main points	5
Complex or long-term health issues	5
Hospital stays:	6
Working Together	7
Hertfordshire County Council responsibilities	8
Schools Responsibilities	8
Safeguarding	9
Exams	. 11
Lack of engagement	. 11
Parental Responsibilities	. 12
Additional information for schools	. 14
The ESMA Teaching Service Provision	. 15
Reintegration into school	. 15
The ESMA Teaching Service Exit Criteria	. 15
Attendance	. 17
Recording school attendance for authorised absence on medical grounds	. 17
Registration codes	. 18
Multi Agency Work	. 19
Annex 1: Service Level Agreement between the referring school, parents and the ESMA Teaching Service	. 20
Annex 2: ESMA Referral Checklist	
Anney 3: Evamples of successful support strategies evercised by schools	25

Introduction

This policy outlines how Hertfordshire County Council fulfils its statutory duties as directed by the Department for Education, in the document, <u>Arranging education for children who cannot attend school because of health needs</u> (publishing.service.gov.uk).

This policy is applicable for pupils experiencing either physical or mental health needs impacting on attendance to enable the long-term goal of improving school attendance. It acknowledges a key concern that many children will experience normal but difficult emotions that make them nervous about attending school, such as worries about friendships, schoolwork, exams, or variable moods. It is important to note that these pupils are still expected to attend school regularly. (DfE 2023)

This policy applies to all children of compulsory school age children and young people who would normally attend mainstream schools, including academies, free schools, independent schools, and special schools, or where a child is not on a school roll. It applies equally whether a child cannot attend school at all or can only attend intermittently.

Governing bodies have a duty to ensure that their school develops a policy for supporting pupils with medical conditions that is reviewed regularly and is readily accessible to parents and school staff.

However, the educational responsibility for electively home educated children rests with the parent / carer in accordance with the DfE guidance so would not meet the criteria for Education Support for Medical Absence (ESMA)Teaching Service support. For more details on ESMA refer to page 13.

Named officers

Richard Woodard, County Lead for Access, Inclusion and Alternative Provision. Richard.woodard@hertfordshire.gov.uk

Ashley White, ESMA Teaching Service Lead Teacher. Ashley.white@hertfordshire.gov.uk

Legislation

This policy refers to the legislation listed below:

- Section 19 of the Education Act 1996
- Education (Pupil Registration) (England) Regulations 2006
- Equality Act 2010
- Section 100 of the Children and Families Act 2014

This guidance also relates to:

- Additional health needs guidance (publishing.service.gov.uk)
- Alternative Provision Statutory Guidance 2013
- Arranging education for children who cannot attend school because of health needs (publishing.service.gov.uk)
- Summary of responsibilities where a mental health issue is affecting attendance (publishing.service.gov.uk)
- Providing remote education: guidance for schools GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
- Supporting pupils at school with medical conditions: statutory guidance for governing bodies of maintained schools and proprietors of academies in England (December 2015)
- Keeping Children Safe in Education

Main points

The Local Authority (LA) has a statutory duty to provide education other than at school for pupils unable to attend school because of health needs. Statutory guidance was issued by the Department for Education (DfE) in December 2023. 'Arranging education for children who cannot attend school because of health needs.' The responsibilities and duties of the LA are set out in that document.

This means that where a child cannot attend school because of **illness** (physical or mental health) and cannot access suitable full-time education, as validated by a health professional, the local authority is responsible for arranging suitable alternative provision. Such support aims to provide:

- The same high standard of education regardless of circumstance or setting.
- Good quality education equivalent to that provided in **mainstream schools**, as far as the child's health needs allow.
- Education suitable to the child's age, ability and aptitude, and any special educational needs they have.
- Continuity of provision and consistency of curriculum for pupils in hospital.

School absence is taken very seriously and as such the accompanying medical advice should be from Targeted or Specialist Health services. This includes consultant level in the case of physical health, or a Tier 2/3 NHS mental health professional such as Step 2, CAMHS or PALMS. This is to ensure the support provided is adequate to the health needs of the pupil and in line with the advice given by the health professional. Support can be considered when the supporting medical advice is from Universal Services such as a GP, but it would be expected that further medical advice for the pupil is being sought.

The legal duty does not apply to children and young people under and over compulsory school age.

Complex or long-term health issues

How long a pupil is likely to be out of school is important in deciding the type and level of support they will need. Where children have complex or long-term health issues, the pattern of illness can be unpredictable. The ESMA Teaching Service, the school where the child is on roll, which is this document we will refer as 'the home school', the relevant medical practitioners, and the parents/carers must work together to identify how to best meet the child's needs.

For children with continuing health needs an Individual Health Plan (IHP) is useful in identifying suitable support. This document must be reviewed regularly by the school.

If the child's needs amount to ongoing special educational needs, an assessment of needs and school SEN support, may be more appropriate to meet the long-term SEN of the pupil.

Some complex or long-term health issues may be considered a disability under the Equality Act 2010, ESMA works with the referring school to ensure:

- disabled children are not discriminated.
- there is due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination.
- there is due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity between disabled and non-disabled children.
- there is due regard to the need to foster good relations between disabled and non-disabled children.
- reasonable adjustments to alleviate disadvantage faced by disabled children are in place.
- disabled children have access to all school premises, including alternative teaching venues being used.

Hospital stays:

This guide also applies to education provided to children who are admitted to hospital and require education access while an inpatient.

Why and when a child is admitted to a hospital is due to a decision made by a medical practitioner, based on the child's health needs. In some cases, where a pupil is hospitalised, the host hospital may provide education within that hospital. In those cases, Hertfordshire would not need to arrange any additional education, provided it is satisfied that the pupil is receiving suitable education.

With planned hospital admissions, the child's home school should liaise with the hospital school and collect details of the likely admission date, expected length of stay, and the education programme to be followed while the child is in hospital. A personal education plan should be set up to ensure that all parties work together.

On discharge, the hospital school must inform, at the earliest possible opportunity, ESMA and the home school (if any) when the child is due to return home.

When a child is discharged by the hospital, the home school and ESMA will be mindful of any medical advice, about how much education will be appropriate after discharge. Consideration is also given to when the child might be ready to return to school and whether they should initially return to school on a part-time basis only.

If a child returns home and is not well enough to return to school, ESMA, home school, parent and medical practitioners will consider appropriate educational support. All teaching support will be arranged as quickly as possible and in full consultation with the child and the parent / carer.

Working Together

ESMA believes working together is the key to effective support.

This includes:

- Capturing the child's voice and ensuring that children are involved in target setting and reviewing their plans for reintegration.
- Schools and ESMA recognising that parents and carers have an important role
 to play throughout the support plan (the family can provide useful information
 about the child and their needs, whether the child is at home, or in hospital).
- Families working with the school and other partner organisations such as HCC to establish a shared understanding of perceived barriers to attendance, with a view to supporting their child to maintain full-time attendance at school.
- ESMA consulting with family and school before ESMA teaching support commences.
- Proactive collaboration with family, school, and relevant services (CAMHS, NHS, school nurses, etc.) to identify impact of health needs and inform support decisions.

Hertfordshire County Council responsibilities

The Educational Support for Medical Absence (ESMA) Teaching Service (referred to as ESMA) is an educational mainstream teaching service for children with medical needs, which sits within the Access, Inclusion and Alternative Provision.

ESMA complements the educational support provided by schools, delivering teaching in the core subjects (English, Maths and Science) and working together with the school to ensure the pupil has access to the wider curriculum.

Key responsibilities:

- The named officer with responsibility for the provision of education for pupils unable to attend school due to medical needs is Mr Ashley White, ESMA Teaching Service Lead Teacher.
- Provides educational support for pupils with documented medical needs unable to attend school for more than 15 school days or more, whether consecutive or cumulative.
- To provide educational support, as far as possible, within the 15 days of absence to pupils with a long term or recurring illness
- Coproduces the education programme and holistic reintegration plan, working together with school, parents, pupil, health, and other professionals involved with the child.
- Reviews the education programme and reintegration plan with school, parents, pupil, health, and other professionals, on a half-termly basis.
- Liaises with the school to obtain termly updates of medical evidence to ensure the identified education programme best meets the pupil's current needs.
- Arranges suitable part-time education, when full-time education would not be in a child's best interests d,ue to the impact of their physical or mental health needs.
- Ensures the education provided will aim to achieve good academic attainment particularly in English, Maths and Science.
- Works with the school, so they can provide access to the school curriculum, up to full-time, as the student's health needs permits.
- Makes effective use of any additional funding allocated to the pupil e.g., High Needs Funding, Pupil Premium.

Schools Responsibilities

The DfE Guidance recommends that where possible, the child's health needs should be managed by the home school so they can continue to be educated there with support, and without the need for the intervention of the local authority (ESMA). There is an expectation that schools will make reasonable adjustments, in accordance with the Equalities Act. 2010, to meet the need of the pupil if they are unable to attend school.

When a child is already attending school, there is a range of circumstances where their health needs can and should be managed by the school so they can continue to be educated there without the need for the intervention of the local authority. Home

schools would usually provide support to children who are absent from school because of illness for a shorter period, for example when experiencing chicken pox or influenza. The 'Supporting pupils at school with medical conditions' guidance outlines the expectations for schools in this respect. The local authority does not need to become involved in school support arrangements unless it has reason to believe that the education being provided by the school is unsuitable.

Schools need to be aware of their responsibilities when mental health issues are impacting on a child's attendance, as detailed in the DfE publication, <u>Summary of responsibilities where a mental health issue is affecting attendance</u>.

As soon as the home school can no longer support the child's health needs and provide suitable education, the school should submit a referral to ESMA (if all criteria are met, as detailed in page 13). When working with ESMA, schools should act in accordance with Ofsted recommendations:

- pay careful consideration to the desired outcomes of the support provided.
- ensure they, or a school leader has assessed the quality and suitability of the provision they have identified as suitable for the child.
- maintain contact with the students frequently to ensure their well-being and progress.
- monitor the students' progress and recording of achievements.
- keep in mind that children not accessing full-time education tend to have lower aspirations, limited levels of achievement and, most seriously, face potential safeguarding risks (such as child sexual exploitation and trafficking).

Safeguarding

Schools are responsible for the safeguarding of all pupils on roll. Schools remain responsible for the safeguarding and welfare of all pupils on roll who are off-site during school hours (Ofsted, July 2023). Schools must effectively consider:

- o any safeguarding concerns
- o how any safeguarding concerns have been assessed and mitigated.
- any Multi-agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) referrals, or missing episodes highlighted.
- identifying the adult responsible for safeguarding, during the time of absence from school.

Mindful of the above, the **Herts Service Level Agreement** (Annex 1), identifies the school's key responsibilities in ensuring there is effective support and access to learning in place for a student with health needs affecting on attendance. These include:

- the safeguarding duty for the student remains with the home school, so close liaison with ESMA is required for attendance monitoring. It is expected that school will act, should concerns arise.
- collaborative work with ESMA, so school can provide a means of access to the whole school curriculum, up to full-time, as the student health need permits.

- identification of a senior member of staff, able to make decisions, to host and chair regular review meetings (normally every 6 weeks), recording and sharing action plans from such review meetings.
- any reasonable adjustments, or support put in place by schools should ensure the time the child spends in school is prioritised, as much as is possible.
- in developing a plan to support attendance through reasonable adjustments, school staff will need to consider the individual circumstances of the child, being mindful of safeguarding responsibilities as set out in the *Keeping children safe in education guidance*.
- be proactive in supporting the pupil to still feel part of the school community, whilst they are not well enough to attend school. This could be by:
 - o telepresence solutions,
 - o school newsletters,
 - o social media platforms,
 - o emails; and invitations to school,
 - digital learning platforms.
 - o Allocated keyworker to lead, guide and monitor reintegration.
 - Contact with subject teachers.
 - Allocation of bespoke schoolwork mindful of reasonable adjustments.
- be proactive in supporting the reintegration of the pupil back into school as soon as they are well enough.
- provide a suitable working area within the school for the pupil to access tuition to enable reintegration.
- make reasonable adjustments under equalities legislation. This duty is anticipatory, and adjustments must be put in place beforehand to prevent disadvantage e.g., review of learning needs, rest breaks, safe space etc.
- use of Individual Healthcare Plans (IHCP). These are different from Education Health Care Plans (EHCP). However, they do sit neatly alongside if required. An IHCP is important to ensure that the school knows how to properly manage the medical needs of the young person whilst on site at school.
- when making a referral, the school should ensure the home school's designated officer for students with health needs affecting on attendance is made aware for school monitoring and recording purposes.

A template for an Individual Healthcare Plan (IHCP) is available <u>here</u>. All schools must review IHCPs (Individual Healthcare Plans) at least annually.

Pupils with an EHCP:

- If the child has an EHC plan, school should consider their next steps and reasonable adjustments and take reasonable steps, once they become aware of barriers to attendance relating to the child's special educational needs. Schools are expected to fulfil its responsibilities as detailed in the SEND Code of Practice 2015.
- Schools should identify how the High Needs Funding (HNF) attached to the EHCP, is being utilised and monitored to meet the child's needs. Any

- reasonable adjustments made should carefully consider the child's attendance and health difficulties.
- Schools must organise exams, secure an invigilator and locate a safe venue, when the pupil is unable to take their exams, within the usual school setting.
- For pupils receiving other additional funding such as Local High Needs Funding and/or Pupil Premium Grant, state in the reintegration plan how this funding is being used and monitored to ensure a successful and full-time reintegration to school.

Exams

Where possible the school's exam timetable should be available for all pupils with health needs affecting attendance. Pupils with physical or mental health needs should be able to take examinations at the same time as their peers.

The school may need to apply for special access arrangements to awarding bodies, as early as possible. As part of the support process, the ESMA review documentation provides relevant academic information.

Awarding bodies can make special arrangements in exams for pupils with:

- permanent or long-term disabilities or illness
- temporary disabilities or illness

Further information can be found in the <u>Joint Council for Qualifications</u> document for access arrangements.

Lack of engagement

Where support offered is not engaged with, or where all other options have been exhausted or deemed inappropriate, schools must work with Hertfordshire Attendance to consider whether to formalise attendance support considering the enforcement of attendance through legal intervention in the normal way under their existing powers.

Parental Responsibilities

Parents/carers have a duty, under section 7 of the Education Act 1996, to ensure that their child of compulsory school age (5 to 16) receives an efficient full-time education either by attendance at school or otherwise, and so share in the responsibility of ensuring good and regular attendance.

A brief summary of some of the responsibilities of a parent/carer, as published in the DfE document (February 2023), <u>Summary of responsibilities where a mental health issue is affecting attendance (publishing.service.gov.uk)</u>, can be seen below:

- parents/carers should engage with support offered by the school and be reminded of the importance of regular attendance and the emotional and mental wellbeing benefits of attending school for children and young people.
- work with the school and other partner organisations such as the LA to
 establish a shared understanding of perceived barriers to attendance, with a
 view to supporting their child to maintain full-time attendance at school.
- keep in touch with the school and be open in communicating information that will help improve the quality and nature of support being provided.
- act as best they can to support their child(ren) to recognise and manage their social, emotional, and mental health and wellbeing.
- promptly Inform school and ESMA of any non-attendance to ensure pupil safety and wellbeing is monitored and any issues identified are addressed in line with Safeguarding responsibilities.
- proactively engage with any support offered, supporting, and encouraging their child to be ready to actively engage with the teaching support made available.
- ensure school has all the current medical information available from the health professionals supporting their child.

The ESMA Teaching Service Entry Criteria

Eligibility for support from ESMA.

- pupils of statutory school age (5-16).
- pupils who have medical evidence that validates their absence from school.
- The medical advice should be from Targeted or Specialist Health services. This includes consultant level in the case of physical health, or a Tier 2/3 NHS mental health professional such as Step 2, CAMHS or PALMS. Support can be considered when the supporting medical advice is from Universal Services such as a GP, but it would be expected that further medical advice for the pupil is being sought.
- pupil's absence is being authorised by the school (prior to the referral to ESMA).
- pupils who are Hertfordshire residents.

Requirements to submit <u>Hertfordshire Service Request (HSR)</u> for ESMA Support:

- medical evidence confirming the pupil is medically unable to attend school.
- signed parental consent (required to share information as part of GDPR).
- the reason for the absence (medical condition).
- likely duration of absence from school as indicated by health professional.
- current support plan on offer from the school based on medical advice.
- for pupils receiving additional funding (through an EHCP, LHNF, and/or Pupil Premium Grant), the school should state how this funding is supporting access to education.
- baseline which includes academic attainment, engagement, and current emotional wellbeing.
- A completed Assess, Plan, Do, Review

The referral should be sent to the relevant ISL geographical area (see <u>Local</u> <u>Offer</u> Website).

All referrals to the ESMA Teaching Service are processed weekly, during Hertfordshire County Council term time. If the referral criteria are met, the ESMA Teaching Service will either:

- Offer guidance.
- Seek to complement the school educational support plan with additional teaching support as required.

The ESMA Teaching Service will work together with all parents, pupil, school, health, and other professionals to create a Holistic Reintegration Plan. Regular Review meetings will be held half-termly to discuss progress and identify next steps.

In accordance with the DfE Guidance of 2023 for Mental health issues affecting a pupil's attendance: guidance to schools, ESMA will work with the school to identify barriers to learning, maximise face-to-face attendance as much as possible, encouraging a return to school, as soon as the pupil is deemed well enough. ESMA will provide guidance to the school on how to implement reasonable adjustments, to maximise face-to-face attendance.

Additional information for schools

- if provision is required beyond 12 weeks school is required to provide updated medical evidence for on-going complementary teaching intervention from ESMA to ensure support being provided is in line with the impact of current health needs.
- ESMA will contact the school to confirm acceptance of the referral and next steps for joint planning with family, school, and health professionals. If entry criterion is not met, ESMA will liaise with the school to explain why the referral was not accepted.
- as part of any plan to support school attendance, schools should facilitate relevant pastoral support with the clear aim of improving attendance as much as possible while supporting the underlying mental health issue making reasonable adjustments to overcome specific barriers to attendance.
- the school must share with ESMA their pastoral support plan, indicating the reasonable adjustments in place, to help the pupil overcome barriers to school attendance.

The ESMA Teaching Service Provision

ESMA complements the education provided by schools and works in collaboration with schools to provide teaching in the core subjects (English, Maths, and Science) via a graduated response using a variety of support tools:

- Telepresence robot AV1 Robot (25 hours) reconnects primary or secondary school age pupils with school and their social life by providing full time access to school and peers. ESMA has ensured the safeguarding and GDPR compliance of this tool. Further details can be obtained from the ESMA Lead Teacher.
- Online and face-to-face group teaching by an ESMA Teacher in the core subjects (English, Maths, Science). Allocation of hours dependent on health needs of pupil.
- Online and face-to-face (at one of the ESMA teaching sites) 1:1 tuition by the ESMA Teacher in the core subjects (English, Maths, Science). Allocation of hours dependent on health needs of pupil. Face-to-face lessons are delivered at the Hemel Hempstead and Stevenage bases.
- Reintegration Support Officer time limited interventions

Digital resources are used as to aid learning in line with the DfE guidance on the appropriate use of remote education.

Reintegration into school

ESMA works with school and family to aid reintegration into their home school. Individual tailored reintegration plans are developed for each child and several support steps can be employed:

- visits to home school for the pupil to meet key worker, peers etc.
- the use of digital resources to maintain the connection with school.
- school support to help fill any educational gaps arising from the child's absence.
- reasonable adjustments to provide suitable access, for a child whose condition amounts to a disability.
- a gradual reintegration process, taking place over a longer period when necessary.
- digital learning platforms, telepresence solutions, school newsletters, social media platforms, emails; and invitations to school are recommended to aid and rebuild the link with school.

The ESMA Teaching Service Exit Criteria

The ESMA Teaching Service works together with the pupil, parents, school, health, and other professionals supporting the child to ensure school reintegration is achieved as soon as their health needs permit.

The ESMA Teaching Service will close support for a pupil if / once:

- the pupil reintegrates to their current school, or transitions to a new school.
- the pupil is too unwell to engage with education.
- the pupil does not attend the ESMA Teaching Service lessons.
- the pupil refuses to access physical / mental health services.
- the pupil moves out of Hertfordshire.

Attendance

Referrals to the ESMA Teaching Service should be made only when the school has authorised absence on medical grounds.

It is the expectation of both the home school and ESMA, that all students attend ESMA and/or their home school lessons and engage fully with work set up by their school, daily during term-time (term dates are available on request), unless deemed medically exempt by the responsible Health Professional. Where the Health Professional responsible deems the student medically exempt, the absence will be recorded as 'authorised' on the Attendance register.

Should a student refuse to engage in timetabled lessons, this will be recorded as "unauthorised absence" on the register. ESMA and the school will work actively with the family to address the issue of regular attendance. ESMA reserves the right to reduce a young person's timetable if deemed necessary as a measure to support the student's health needs.

Recording school attendance for authorised absence on medical grounds

It is important that schools act to ensure that the DfE guidance in respect of attendance is correctly observed for pupils unable to attend school for medical reasons. The registration codes that school apply will be dependent on the arrangement agreed, or decision of the headteacher regarding attendance and based on the medical reasons or evidence provided.

Student absence from school is taken very seriously. In law, the decision whether to authorise absence rests with the Headteacher of a school or a person designated with this responsibility by the headteacher. In line with Section 444(1) Education Act 1996 – if a child is absent without authorisation, then the school will follow their school's attendance policy to ensure an offence is not being committed.

Please refer to the DfE Guidance on School Attendance for additional information:

- Record the pupil's absence from school for sessions when they are not in attendance as authorised absence if there is supporting medical evidence (register code C).
- If a referral to the ESMA Teaching Service is successful, then school would be required to amend their register code from 'C' to 'B' for the time the pupil is receiving support for their education from the ESMA Teaching Service.
- If the pupil does not access the ESMA Teaching Service support, then the school should record attendance as unauthorised, unless parent or health provides additional supporting evidence and the headteacher decides to authorise the absence based on this evidence.

Registration codes

Code C: Leave of absence authorised by the school.

The DfE Guidance states that only exceptional circumstances warrant an authorised leave of absence. Schools should consider each application individually considering the specific facts and circumstances and relevant background context behind the request.

This should therefore be used when a pupil has a reduced timetable that includes sessions which have been mutually agreed not to involve attendance at any other institution or supervised activity. The sessions not involving attendance at any other institution or supervised activity should be recorded as authorised absence. The school should be satisfied that appropriate arrangements are in place for the care and welfare of the pupil during the time when they would otherwise be at school. This is particularly important for pupils in the primary phase and should comply with Hertfordshire guidance on part time timetables.

Code B: Off-site educational activity (for example ESMA)

The DfE states this code should be used when pupils are present at an off-site educational activity that has been approved by the school and supervised by someone authorised by the school. Ultimately schools are responsible for the safeguarding and welfare of pupils educated off-site. Therefore, by using code B, schools are certifying that the education is supervised, and measures have been taken to safeguard pupils. This code should not be used for any unsupervised educational activity or where a pupil is at home doing schoolwork. Schools should ensure that they have in place arrangements whereby the provider of the alternative activity notifies the school of any absences by individual pupils. The school should record the pupil's absence using the relevant absence code and ensure the educational activity takes place during the session for which it is recorded.

This should therefore be used if the pupil is receiving off site provision, approved by the school, including any work experience forming part of the alternative provision. A pupil marked 'B' should be present at another educational institution or appropriately supervised activity agreed by the school, like ESMA. The school should establish robust arrangements with other providers to promote the effective and timely sharing of individual attendance information, to ensure they fulfil their legal and safeguarding responsibilities and apply the correct registration codes.

For pupils of compulsory school age, schools must also record the nature of the activity, examples are:

- Attending taster days at other schools
- Attending courses at college
- Attending unregistered alternative provision arranged or agreed by the school

Code W: Work experience

Work experience is for pupils in the final two years of compulsory education. Schools should ensure that they have in place arrangements whereby the work experience placement provider notifies the school of any absences by individual pupils. Any

absence should be recorded using the relevant code and the work experience must take place during the session for which it is recorded.

Any approved educational activity must be supervised by a person authorised by the school.

Multi Agency Work

The school can obtain further support from Hertfordshire County Council, the services below provide help to schools, settings, and families to improve outcomes for children and young people with additional and special educational needs:

- Educational Psychology
- Early Years SEND
- Neurodiversity Team
- Physical and Neurological Impairment Team, including Specific Learning Difficulties
- Access to Education for Travellers, Refugees, Asylum Seekers and Unaccompanied Migrant Children.
- Hertfordshire Therapeutic Thinking
- Attendance and Statutory Participation Team (SAPT)
- Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND)

Annex 1: Service Level Agreement between the referring school, parents and the ESMA Teaching Service

Service Level Agreement between Schools, families & the ESMA Teaching Service

Effective collaboration between all relevant services (CAMHS, NHS, schools, HCC, and parents) is essential to delivering effective education for children with additional health needs. This Agreement confirms the support arrangements for pupils referred to the ESMA Teaching Service (ESMA) who are temporarily unable to attend their school, due to the impact of their medical condition.

The ESMA Teaching Service Purpose:

- To enable pupils to feel connected with their peers, included in their school and supported in their learning.
- To work together with pupil, parent, school, health, and other professionals supporting the child to ensure school reintegration is achieved as soon as their health needs permit.
- To ensure the school has exam arrangements in place for the pupil as ESMA is not a registered exam Centre.

Roles & Responsibilities

Parents' / Carer Responsibilities

- 1. Promptly inform school and ESMA of any non-attendance to ensure pupil safety and wellbeing is monitored and any issues identified are addressed in line with Safeguarding responsibilities.
- 2. Proactively engage with any support offered and be reminded of the importance of regular attendance, the emotional and mental wellbeing benefits of attending school for children and young people.
- 3. Work with the school and other partner organisations to establish a shared understanding of perceived barriers to attendance, with a view to supporting their child to maintain full-time attendance at school.
- 4. Keep in touch with the school and be open in communicating information that will help improve the quality and nature of support being provided.
- 5. Act as best they can to support their child(ren) to recognise and manage their social, emotional, and mental health and wellbeing.
- 6. Ensure school has all the current medical information available from the health professionals supporting their child.
- 7. Seek advice from a qualified health professional when non-attendance to school develops. (For children with mental health issues, a mental health practitioner)
- 8. Share health advice with the school to assist with their support plan or individual health care plan (IHP).
- 9. Proactively support and encourage their child to be ready to actively engage with the teaching support made available.
- 10. Provide early communication to school if a problem arises or help is needed.

- 11. Attend necessary meetings with school and relevant professionals.
- 12. Complete recommended techniques by health, to support their child to return to school when health needs permit.
- 13. Reinforce with their child, the value of a return to school.
- 14. Support child to work towards the targets identified.
- 15. Be responsible for safeguarding their child when they are not accessing education.
- 16. Be responsible for arranging for an identified adult to supervise pupil when accessing education not on school site or at an ESMA venue.
- 17. Inform both school and ESMA of the medical steps to take should there be a health emergency (risk assessment information)

School's Responsibilities

- 1. Where possible, schools should continue to provide education to children with health needs who can attend school e.g., providing support to children who are absent from school because of illness for a short period, see DfE Guidance 'Supporting pupils at school with medical conditions' and remain solely responsible for the first 15 days of non-attendance (consecutive or cumulative).
- 2. Be aware of their responsibilities when mental health issues are impacting on a child's attendance, see DfE Guidance 'Summary of responsibilities where a mental health issue is affecting attendance'.
- 3. Provide access to the full curriculum (Art, History, etc.) according to the needs of the pupil, working together with ESMA who will provide additional access to the core curriculum (English, Math's, Science)
- 4. Provide and identify baseline attainment.
- 5. Submit the agreed reintegration plan for pupils on a reduced timetable (see HCC guidance on reduced timetables)
- 6. Identify a senior member of staff, able to make decisions, to host and chair regular review meetings (normally every 6 weeks), recording and sharing the action plans.
- 7. Identify in-school support and a pastoral link (tutor/ key worker) to have regular contact with pupil to address educational, social, and emotional needs.
- 8. Be proactive in supporting the pupil to still feel part of the school community whilst they are not well enough to attend school.

Examples below and see Annex 3 in SLA:

- a. telepresence solutions,
- b. school newsletters.
- c. social media platforms,
- d. emails; and invitations to school,
- e. digital learning platforms.
- 9. Inform all relevant staff of the child's condition and the support required.
- 10. Be proactive in supporting the reintegration of the pupil back into school as soon as they are well enough e.g., provide a suitable working area within school for pupil to access tuition to enable reintegration.
- 11. Make reasonable adjustments under equalities legislation. This duty is anticipatory, and adjustments must be put in place beforehand to prevent disadvantage e.g., rest breaks, safe space etc.
- 12. Organise exams and invigilation in line with JCQ guidance.
- 13. For pupils who have long term or recurrent illness submit current treatment plan and named medical contact

- 14. For pupils receiving additional funding through either an EHCP or Local High Needs Funding and/or Pupil Premium Grant, state in reintegration plan how funding is used.
- 15. Apply usual school policies e.g., Attendance recording.

ESMA's Responsibilities

- 1. Assess all referrals to the service and identify suitable teaching intervention within 15 days.
- 2. Ensure all stakeholders are aware of the service's entry and exit criteria.
- 3. Provide access to the ESMA core curriculum, meeting key requirements of the National Curriculum for all exam boards in English, Math's, and Science.
- 4. Monitor and evaluate the teaching provided by the ESMA teachers to ensure it continues to meet the needs of individual pupils in line with their health needs.
- 5. Report to stakeholders on pupil's attendance, engagement, and academic progress (core subjects) during the period of support
- 6. Co-produce a Holistic Reintegration Plan (HRP) in collaboration with schools, pupil, parents, and professionals working with the child.
- 7. Liaise with the school's identified member of staff, to ensure review meetings are held regularly (normally every 6 weeks), and school, parents, pupil, and other professionals (health) working with the child are aware of the Holistic Reintegration Plan targets and impact of support provided by professionals involved.
- 8. Capture the pupil voice to ensure they are involved in the HRP creation.
- Monitor that updated medical evidence is provided by the school to ensure ongoing teaching intervention from ESMA (beyond 12 weeks) meets pupil's needs.
- 10. Support pupils on the school site; in a suitable venue, or exceptionally, in the pupil's home if supported by appropriate medical evidence. If support is required in the home, complete a risk assessment to identify steps and support measures e.g., supporting adult present.
- 11. Inform stakeholders as to why a referral did not meet the entry criteria.
- 12. Liaise with health professionals to determine how much education is manageable for the pupil in relation to current health needs.
- 13. Should ESMA teaching need to be cancelled due to staff sickness, cover work will be made available for pupils to complete independently and then reviewed during next lesson.
- 14. Follow ESMA Teaching Service Policies in the support plan arrangements e.g., Attendance, Behaviour, Safeguarding, Risk Assessments etc.

Health Service Responsibilities

- 1. Provide support to schools to inform the pupil's health care plan.
- 2. Provide relevant details to school of health support to enable the school to develop a holistic support plan in liaison with school, parents, pupil, and other professionals (health) working with the child.
- 3. Provide outreach and training to the school in relation to the needs of the pupil due to the impact of their medical condition.
- 4. Participate, or provide written advice to inform the Holistic Reintegration Plan

Pupil Responsibilities

1. Be ready to maintain communication with the identified link teacher from school.

- 2. Be ready to engage with the agreed Holistic Reintegration Plan including attendance, participation, and reintegration steps as health needs permit.
- 3. Be prepared to work with the professionals to develop skills to communicate their views and concerns.
- 4. Be ready to take steps needed to commence the return to school.
- 5. Be ready to learn (correct equipment) and ready to actively engage in the teaching being provided and independent study tasks set.

The ESMA Teaching Service assumes the SLA conditions have been accepted, by parents and school, unless we hear otherwise.

Annex 2: ESMA Referral Checklist

Before submitting a referral, schools should check they have completed the following steps:

HAVE YOU:

1	Completed the Hertfordshire Service Request form in full to be sent	
`	via Herts FX to the relevant ISL geographical area?	
	(Incomplete referrals will delay a response from ESMA as the	
	appropriate plan of action cannot be identified.)	
2	Attached your current support plan / APDR for the student with the HSR?	
	(The first 15 working days of a pupil's absence remains a school's responsibility including the provision and marking of schoolwork.)	
3	Submitted the agreed reintegration plan for any pupils attending school on an agreed reduced timetable?	
	(HCC guidance on reduced timetables is available here, or in the	
	Hertfordshire Grid for Learning)	
4	Included the current treatment plan / medical evidence which	
	school has accepted as authorising non-attendance with the	
	contact details of the named health professional?	
5	Attached / included the signed parental consent?	
6	Stated in the additional information how any funding for those	
	pupils either with an EHCP or Local High Needs Funding and/or	
	Pupil Premium Grant is being used?	
	Included any agreement / plan for the use of additional funding for the pupil?	

Annex 3: Examples of successful support strategies exercised by schools

Reasonable Adjustments

Allocation of key adults at school so pupil(s) know who to contact / who can help.

Soft start to the day – meet and greet.

Clear and consistent routines ensuring pupil(s) know what will happen during breaks etc.

Lunch time clubs available aiming to reduce sensory overload.

Anxiety mapping and regulatory training via SEN.

Teaching and learning adaptations e.g., scaffolding.

Classroom seating arrangements.

Access to identified bespoke learning to reduce demand.

Use of digital resources.

Pupils can pre-order lunch to be collected by staff and distributed to them to eat in solace.

Supported by staff to integrate into canteen to build confidence with eating in assigned area.

Seating at breaks and lunches can be provided to manage anxiety.

Withdrawn from lessons on a short-term basis to work on emotional regulation, to build resilience.

Provided with "Early Leave" cards, to avoid main transition times in corridors between classes.

A short period of phased timetabling where the child is in school but does not attend all lessons.

Sit exams in smaller exam venues e.g., smaller rooms of 10 or 12 pupils.

Ear defenders.

Sensory difficulties are considered as part of the school uniform policy.

Building Confidence

Pupils can attend therapy/ group social skills lessons.

Meet and greet.

Made aware they can speak with anyone they have confidence in, and staff know they should contact a member of the trained mental health team.

Paired up with buddies/ mentors from Y11/13 who have received specific training to support, e.g., meet 6th form progress mentor during registration.

Encouraged to take part in after-school clubs, to help to build confidence about attending.

Offered 1-1 coach support to "catch-up" on core content for English/Maths. Often a barrier to returning as pupils overwhelmed with content they have missed.

Offered 1-1 or group sessions via pastoral support e.g., drama / art/ music/ sport as an escape from school pressures and support with anxiety.

Leadership

Staff account for the needs of all children, including offering a safe place, someone to talk with and liaising with parents at home.

Staff with the requisite training wear 'Mental Health Matters' lanyards, informing pupils who is available to support directly if required.

School takes a bespoke approach to each child with an emphasis on breaking down barriers to attendance.

The school has in place a well-trained, dedicated Mental Health team.

Mental Health awareness days and sessions are arranged for pupils.

Inclusive curriculum developed via PSHE plus specific curricula resources.